A. INTRODUCTION 

Courts have the authority in a partition action to compel a 

sale of real property over a co-owner’s objection—a power that 

leaves tenants in common vulnerable to their co-owners’ whims. 

Just one co-owner, no matter how small their interest or how 

vindictive their motive, can ask the courts to compel a sale 

forcing everyone off the property. Co-owners also are 

susceptible to real-estate speculators acquiring minority interests 

and then forcing the entire land’s sale so that it can be 

redeveloped. The potential for abuse endangers family 

ownership of land, especially farms, passed down through 

generations. 

A statutory safeguard exists. RCW 7.52.080 prohibits a 

sale over a co-owner’s objection, with one narrow exception: 

when a trial court finds that any partition in kind would result in 

“great prejudice” to all the owners. This statutory restriction has 

undergone no interpretation in this Court since Williamson Inv. 

Co. v. Williamson, 96 Wash. 529, 165 P. 385 (1917). But the time 
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has come to revisit it because Division I has adopted a new test—

“economic feasibility,” rather than “great prejudice”—that 

waters down this important safeguard against abuses of the 

partition statute. Division I compounded this error by allowing a 

conclusory expert opinion to justify the court’s new test and by 

mistakenly applying a deferential standard of review.  

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The petitioners are Hidden River Ranch, LLC (“HRR”) 

and Calvin Evans, Jr. (“Cal Jr.”). 

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

On November 14, 2022, Division I issued its unpublished 

opinion (“Op.”). On December 14, 2022, Division I denied 

reconsideration. See App. 

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does Division I’s new “economic feasibility” test 

comport with the “great prejudice” standard in RCW 7.52.080? 

And when a trial court evaluates whether any harm to all the co-

owners from a partition would satisfy the “great prejudice” 



Petition for Review - 3 

standard, must the trial court consider (a) the value of the 

property as a whole relative to the aggregate value of 

partitionable parcels, and (b) the harm to the objecting co-owner 

from a compulsory sale of the entire property? 

2. Can a conclusory expert opinion on a property’s 

value as a whole, without factual foundation showing the values 

of potential constituent parcels, be enough to overcome the 

presumption against sales and to find “great prejudice” to all the 

owners under RCW 7.52.080? 

3. What is the appellate standard of review for a trial 

court’s findings under RCW 7.52.080 when the court rested its 

decision on a small paper record, not on live witness testimony 

at trial or an evidentiary hearing? 

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
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(1) The 40-Acre ‘Hidden River Ranch’ Horse Farm, 
Which Has Been in the Evans Family for Three 
Generations, Comprises Four Distinct Parcels 

Hidden River Ranch is a horse farm along the Skykomish 

River in Sultan. CP 61. Four 

parcels make up the farm, which 

covers about 32-40 acres. CP 61-

62, 257, 259. Two parcels, each 

about 10 acres along Mann 

Road, have wells for water and 

meters for electricity. CP 61-62. 

Both these 10-acre parcels are 

livable, but only one of them, the 

southwesterly one, 

has a house. CP 61-

62, 69, 91. The two 

parcels by the river 

are not livable. CP 

61-62. The facilities for horse ranching and boarding lie on the 
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three parcels where the house is not located (see below). CP 61, 

65; App. to Mot. for Discretionary Review 457-58.  

Calvin Evans, Jr. (“Cal Jr.’)’s father, Cal Sr., originally 

owned the farm. CP 61. Cal Jr. moved his family (his then-wife 

and his four children, Lindsey, Calvin III, Cory, and Jesse) there 

in 2005 when Cal Jr. asked for help as he aged. CP 61. “The 

whole place was in disrepair and disarray,” recalls Cal Jr. CP 61. 

He spent about a million dollars of his own money and 

equipment repairing and bringing order to the farm. CP 168. He 

also spent some of Cal Sr.’s money on maintenance. CP 62.  

(2) A Family Dispute Culminated in a Single Co-
Owner Initiating a Spiteful Action to Force 
HRR/Cal Jr. Off the Land Through a Court-Ordered 
Sale  

In 2011, Cal Jr.’s father died. CP 247, 259. A probate 
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dispute broke out among Cal Jr. and his siblings, with the courts 

eventually disqualifying him as a beneficiary and ruling that the 

whole horse farm should pass directly to Cal Jr.’s four children 

as tenants in common. CP 62. Lindsey, Calvin III, and Cory, who 

are respondents here, as well as Jesse, who did not join this suit, 

received undivided 25% ownership shares in the property. CP 12, 

62, 247, 263.  

Cory and Jesse then agreed to quit-claim their 25% shares 

to Cal Jr. or his chosen LLC in exchange for Cal Jr. promising to 

distribute these shares back to them upon his death. CP 12, 167, 

169-71. Cal Jr. executed a will accordingly, Cory and Jesse quit 

claimed their shares to HRR. CP 31, 61-62, 168, 265-68. HRR 

now owned 50%, Lindsey 25%, and Calvin III 25%. CP 259.  

After a few years, Cal Jr. divorced his then-wife, the 

mother of Lindsey, Calvin III, and their siblings, and friction 

within the family worsened. CP 62. In summer 2019, Lindsey 
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was arrested following an altercation with Cal Jr.’s new wife.1 A 

month after prosecutors brought charges again her, Lindsey filed 

her complaint to force a sale of the whole property—a result that 

would force Cal Jr. and his new wife off the property.2 CP 313-

16. Cal Jr. believes that Lindsey blames his new wife for the 

divorce and brought the partition action out of anger toward Cal 

Jr. and her. CP 62. All Evans family members vacated the 

property, except Cal Jr. and his spouse. CP 168. Recently, Cal Jr. 

has spent at least another $40,000 on re-roofing the barn, horse 

riding arena, and shop. CP 33, 168. But Lindsey and Calvin III 

have not contributed to maintenance and stopped paying their 

share of real-estate taxes. CP 33, 168.  

 

 1 Prosecutors filed criminal charges against Lindsey in 
July 2019. State v. Rodriguez, Snohomish County District Court 
Case Nos. PC19D1833 and D19-0005.  
 
 2 Calvin III is pro se and has filed nothing. Jesse did not 
join the suit. Cory intervened, filing a third-party complaint 
demanding dissolution of HRR and claiming conversion and 
breach of fiduciary duty. CP 294-307. The trial court recently 
entered a default judgment on Cory’s claims, which have 
proceeded in the trial court pending the appeal of the sale order. 



Petition for Review - 8 

(3) The Trial Court, Relying on an Appraiser’s Written 
Declaration, Entered an Order Forcing a Sale of the 
Whole Farm Property  

Lindsey moved under RCW 7.52.080 to force a sale of the 

whole farm. CP 54-59, 180-86, 239-42. Cory joined in the 

motion. CP 187-88. 

Although Lindsey had the burden of proof, see 

Williamson, 96 Wash. at 537, HRR/Cal Jr. offered evidence 

showing the farm could be partitioned into two without great 

prejudice: the 10 acres with the house was worth $800,000 and 

could be sold to pay out the other co-owners, while the remaining 

acreage was worth $400,000. CP 62-66. Cal Jr. said that such a 

partition and partial sale would be acceptable to him; the 

remaining land had pasture, horse fencing, the barn, the indoor 

riding arena, and stables, allowing him to continue the horse farm 

and build a new residence for him and his wife. CP 62–63.  

But the court granted the motion. CP 21-22. After Division 

I granted discretionary review, the trial court entered findings of 

fact and conclusions of law to support its sale order. CP 699-704. 
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The trial court never held a trial, instead basing its decision solely 

on written declarations. CP 700. 

Division I affirmed. Op. at 1-23. 

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

(1) Background on RCW 7.52.080 

Washington’s partition statute, first enacted in 1868 and 

last substantively amended in 1881, permits any tenant in 

common to bring a partition action. RCW 7.52.010. The 

petitioner may request a partition in kind or a court-ordered sale 

of all or part the property. Id.  

RCW 7.52.080 restricts compulsory sales. It provides that 

“the court may order a sale” if “it appear by the evidence … to 

the satisfaction of the court, that the property or any part of it, is 

so situated that partition cannot be made without great prejudice 

to the owners.” Id. (emphasis added). Once the sale is complete, 

the trial court may then distribute the proceeds. See RCW 

7.52.220, .250.  

The partition statute sets out several procedural rules. 
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Among these, RCW 7.52.070 permits “[t]he rights of the several 

parties, plaintiffs as well as defendants,” to “be put in issue, tried 

and determined.” 

(2) Division I’s Interpretation of RCW 7.52.080 
Conflicts with Williamson and with this Court’s 
Precedents on Statutory Interpretation 

Division I, citing no precedent, held that RCW 7.52.080 

permits a trial court to force the sale of an entire property over a 

co-owner’s objection when the court determines there is no 

“economically feasible” way to partition it. Op. at 22. With this 

new “economic feasibility” test for “great prejudice” under RCW 

7.52.080, Division I rejected HRR/Cal Jr.’s argument that the 

trial court could not find great prejudice without determining the 

aggregate value of partitioned parcels and comparing it to the 

value of the property if sold as a whole. Op. at 20-22. Instead, 

Division I approved the trial court’s finding that “[m]uch of the 

property is pasture and some of the property is in the floodway 

of the Skykomish River, making partition in kind not 

economically feasible.” Op. at 18-19. This Court should grant 
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review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) of Division I’s new “economic 

feasibility” test for great prejudice. 

 Its novel test conflicts with Williamson’s statutory 

interpretation. The term “great prejudice” refers to “material 

pecuniary loss.” Williamson, 96 Wash. at 537. It does not mean 

mere “[p]robable injury to the property” or “hardship.” Id. at 534. 

But Division I’s vague new test allows a trial court to make a 

finding of great prejudice based on unquantified amounts of 

injury or on mere hardship. See RAP 13.4(b)(1). Williamson also 

makes clear that the damage must be more than “economic”—or 

“pecuniary,” to use Williamson’s terminology. Rather, the harm 

must be material. Id. at 534, 537. Division I’s new test wipes out 

that materiality element—an unprecedented watering down of 

RCW 7.52.080 warranting this Court’s scrutiny. See RAP 

13.4(b)(1). 

 Division I’s opinion not only contradicts Williamson’s 

statutory interpretation, but also it clashes with the presumption 

against compulsory sales identified in Williamson. The common 
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law prefers partition in kind “whenever practicable.” 96 Wash. 

at 535. This presumption remains a “strong policy.” Overlake 

Farms B.L.K. III, LLC v. Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC, 196 

Wn. App. 929, 941, 386 P.3d 1118 (2016). Without RCW 

7.52.080, Washington courts lacked the power at common law to 

abandon this presumption. Williamson, 96 Wash. at 534-35. 

Thus, RCW 7.52.080 should be construed narrowly. See, e.g., 

Cosmopolitan Eng'g Grp., Inc. v. Ondeo Degremont, Inc., 159 

Wn.2d 292, 303, 149 P.3d 666 (2006) (“[S]tatutes in derogation 

of the common law must be construed narrowly.” (citations 

omitted)). But Division I’s watered-down test for “great 

prejudice” fails to give effect to this presumption against 

compulsory sales. If this Court does not safeguard this statutory 

protection, co-owners of property will become more vulnerable 

to the vindictive agendas of other co-owners.  

 Besides diluting the “great prejudice” standard with a new 

test, Division I’s opinion also changed the method for 

determining whether partition would result in great prejudice. 
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Under Williamson, the “great prejudice” test calls for a 

comparison between alternatives: “whether the value of the share 

of each in case of a partition would be materially less than his 

share of the money equivalent that could probably be obtained 

for the whole.” Williamson, 96 Wash. at 536 (quotation omitted). 

This comparison test remains a vital part of Washington law. See 

Overlake Farms, 196 Wn. App. at 940-41, 943 (relying on 

Williamson and applying its comparison test).  

This comparison test for great prejudice does not allow the 

court to find great prejudice merely because some co-owners 

would fare worse than others. Overlake Farms, 196 Wn. App. at 

939-40. Courts redress any harm or inequity to the disadvantaged 

owners with “an award of ‘owelty of partition.’” Williamson, 96 

Wash. at 534; see also, Overlake Farms, 196 Wn. App. at 940-

41; Stotzky v. Riggers, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1023, 2019 WL 4635140, 

at *6 (2019) (unpublished) (“[T]he court may require that one 

compensate the other based on its determination of ‘the 

inequality of partition.’” (quoting RCW 7.52.440)). Thus, great 
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prejudice does not occur if inequity can be offset; there must be 

great prejudice to all owners. Overlake Farms, 196 Wn. App. at 

939-40. 

Yet Division I held that courts may disregard the 

mandatory comparison test whenever they find “partition in kind 

is not economically feasible.” Op. at 22. Division I’s new 

methodology not only abrogates Williamson, but also it makes 

no sense on its own terms. How can a trial court find partition 

would not be “economically feasible” if the court lacks evidence 

of the aggregate values of the constituent parcels of various 

partition plans?   

Division I’s watered-down “economic feasibility” test also 

conflicts with this Court’s directive that appellate courts must 

interpret statutes based on their plain language. See, e.g., Fed. 

Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC, 194 

Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) (reaffirming that a 

statute’s “plain language is “the bedrock principle of statutory 

interpretation”). The words “economic feasibility” do not appear 
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in any precedent, and they find no home in RCW 7.52.080 either. 

Only the phrase “great prejudice” does—plain words whose 

common meaning suggests that “economic feasibility” is too 

diminished of a standard that would allow compulsory sales even 

when partition would result in only some economic harm. “When 

no statutory definition is provided, words in a statute should be 

given their common meaning, which may be determined by 

referring to a dictionary.” Dahl-Smyth, Inc. v. City of Walla 

Walla, 148 Wn.2d 835, 842-43, 64 P.3d 15 (2003). The word 

“great” means “notably large in size,” or “HUGE.” Great, 

Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 547 (11th ed. 2014). 

Meanwhile, the word “prejudice” means “[d]amage or detriment 

to one’s legal rights or claims.” Prejudice, Black’s Law 

Dictionary 1428 (11th ed. 2019). Or “injury or damage.” 

Prejudice, Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 979 (11th 

ed. 2014). Thus, the common meanings of “great” and 

“prejudice” show that a trial court lacks authority to force a sale 

over a co-owner’s objection unless the court finds that partition 
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would result in a huge or notably large injury or detriment to the 

co-owner’s rights.  

HRR/Cal Jr. also urged Division I to consider the harm to 

them from a compulsory sale—forcing them to move off the 

property and shut down the horse farm—as relevant to whether 

the competing harm of a partition would satisfy the “great 

prejudice” standard. Division I rebuffed their argument, 

concluding the harm to them was not relevant: “the test is not 

whether partition by sale will cause great prejudice to the owners, 

but whether partition in kind will do so.” Op. at 23. This Court 

should grant review to decide whether the harm to a co-owner 

from a compulsory sale is relevant to determining whether there 

would be “prejudice” to all owners that would be “great” if the 

property were instead partitioned in kind. The acceptable 

synonyms for “great”—that is, “material,” “huge,” and “notably 

large”—all imply comparison. There is no way to evaluate the 

magnitude of harm from a partition in kind without comparing 

the harm that would result from the alternative, namely a forced 
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sale. Some economic loss would not be “material” if the 

alternative—being forced from the land entirely because of a 

sale—would be devastating. As would be the case here 

(HRR/Cal Jr. losing the farm). 

As discussed in Parts F(3) and F(4) below, there was not 

enough competent evidence, only a conclusory expert opinion 

that should not have been accepted, to rebut the strong 

presumption against sales and find great prejudice. Division I 

could affirm the trial court only by adopting a new test for “great 

prejudice” and changing the methodology for applying the test. 

This Court should grant review. 

(3) Division I’s Decision that a Conclusory Expert 
Opinion Suffices Under RCW 7.52.080 Conflicts 
with this Court’s Precedent on Written Expert 
Declarations and with the Strong Presumption 
Against Compulsory Sales 

Division I’s opinion establishes persuasive authority on 

the sufficiency of an expert appraiser’s opinion to rebut the 

presumption against sales and establish great prejudice under 

RCW 7.52.080. It serves as a roadmap for others to follow when 
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they want to force co-owners off the property. Because Division 

I’s acceptance of the appraiser’s report conflicts with this Court’s 

precedent on expert opinions and with Williamson’s presumption 

in favor of partition in kind, this Court should grant review. RAP 

13.4(b)(1).  

Because the expert declaration of appraiser Jim Dodge 

figured so prominently in the trial court’s decision, HRR/Cal Jr. 

had pointed out that “‘conclusory or speculative expert opinions 

lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted.’’ Suppl. Br. 

of Appellants at 50 (quoting Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn. App. 140, 

148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001)). Indeed, the appellate courts, including 

this Court, have long held that admitting “conclusory or 

speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation” is 

“well established.” Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath, 63 Wn. App. 

170, 177, 817 P.2d 861 (1991); see also, Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 

Wn.2d 241, 277, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) (“The expert’s opinion 

must be based on fact and cannot simply be a conclusion or based 

on an assumption if it is to survive summary judgment.” (citing 
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Melville v. State, 115 Wn.2d 34, 41, 793 P.2d 952 (1990)). The 

purpose for this rule is evident: expert opinions can strongly 

influence the fact finder, as Dodge’s declaration did here, and so 

foundational requirements for detail and factual support create 

safeguards in the fact-finding process. But Division I’s opinion 

in this case did not discuss these principles or explain how the 

Dodge declaration squared with them. 

This oversight tarnished Division I’s analysis, because the 

Dodge declaration was the main evidence3 cited in the opinion as 

supporting the trial court’s finding of great prejudice to the 

owners. Only three sentences in the Dodge declaration addressed 

 

 3 Division I also referenced Cal Jr.’s interrogatory answer 
in the litigations’ earliest stages saying that “[t]rying to separate 
the property into three parcels or four parcels would destroy most 
of the value.” CP 34. But that statement cannot satisfy the “great 
prejudice” test. It was only Cal Jr.’s “personal opinion” at the 
time. Id. He later consulted with real-estate broker Jennifer 
Shultz and changed his mind. CP 34, 63–66, 176. This broker’s 
market analysis showed the property could be divided into two 
parcels, rather than the three or four that Cal Jr. hypothesized: 
the 10 acres with the house could be sold while leaving the 
remaining acreage for the horse farm to continue and for him and 
his wife to build a new residence. CP 34, 62–66. 
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the economics of partitioning the property in kind: 

[T]he highest and best use of the subject property is 
in its current configuration as a residence with horse 
training and boarding facilities and acreage. It 
would be very impractical or impossible, in my 
opinion, to divide the property into three parcels 
with values proportionate for the respective co-
tenants without substantial loss of value from the 
property as a whole. The residence and barn 
constitute most of the market value, and the 
surrounding pasture lands would have little value 
unless old with the horse training and boarding 
facility. 
 

CP 320. Despite this barebones opinion, Division I’s decision 

cites it repeatedly. Op. at 12-13, 15-16, 18-19.  

If Division I’s opinion had not overlooked the 

foundational requirements for expert declarations, the result here 

would have been different. The Dodge declaration contains no 

factual basis for its opinions on the property’s “highest and best 

use” and on “divid[ing] the property into three parcels.” CP 320. 

Dodge’s report evaluated the property as a whole; it never 

considered individual parcels’ values. CP 326, 329-81. And the 

Dodge declaration considers only one theoretical partition—
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“three parcels with values proportionate for the respective co-

tenants.” CP 320. He never considered other possible partitions, 

such as HRR/Cal Jr.’s suggestion of two parcels, even though the 

Dodge declaration tacitly admits that the property might be 

partitioned in a way that preserves values—as long as the barn 

was tied to the pasture lands, which is what HRR/Cal Jr. 

suggested. CP 320. Because the only foundation for his opinion 

was the value of the farm as a whole, Dodge had no basis in fact 

to opine on the values of smaller parcels or on the economic 

feasibility of partition. Simply put, Dodge’s opinion was nothing 

more than conjecture without adequate factual foundation. 

 Because a trial court should partition property “whenever 

practicable,” rather than forcing its sale, Williamson, 96 Wash. 

at 535, it is especially important to apply the stringent standards 

for written expert declarations. Otherwise, Williamson’s 

presumption diminishes into a mere formality, with Division I’s 

opinion giving a playbook to vindictive co-owners on how to 

exploit a conclusory expert opinion to force another co-owner off 
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the land. 

Even if the Dodge declaration were accepted, his opinion 

met only Division I’s watered-down “economic feasibility” test, 

not the “great prejudice” test necessary to overcome the 

presumption against sales. For example, Division I’s decision 

stresses that the trial court “accepted Dodge’s opinion that the 

property cannot be partitioned without a substantial loss of 

value.” Op. at 18. And the decision approves the trial court 

having “explicitly found that ‘[m]uch of the property is pasture 

and some of the property is in the floodway of the Skykomish 

River, making partition in kind not economically feasible.” Op. 

at 19 (emphasis added). But Dodge’s opinion, using vague terms 

such as “highest and best use” and “substantial loss in value,” 

does not rise to the level of a material, huge, or notably large 

injury to all owners. Dodge’s declaration also fails to achieve the 

required comparison test. See Part F(2), supra. Finally, his 

declaration ignores the statute’s provision for awards of owelty; 

a partition need not carve up the property into parcels with equal 
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values. See RCW 7.52.440.  

In sum, Division’s opinion did not cite or discuss the 

principles for scrutinizing expert declarations. This Court should 

grant review because Division I’s treatment of expert opinion 

conflicts with Volk, 187 Wn.2d 241 and with Williamson’s 

presumption against compulsory sales.  

(4) Division I’s Unprecedented Deference to the Trial 
Court’s Findings on a Paper Record Conflicts with 
Dolan, with Williamson’s Strong Presumption 
Against Compulsory Sales, and with RCW 7.52.070 

This Court should accept the third issue presented under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1)—whether de novo review applies when a trial 

court relies solely on written declarations to find “great 

prejudice” to all owners under RCW 7.52.080. This Court’s 

precedent and the partition statute’s procedures do not support 

Division I’s holding that an appellate court must defer to a trial 

court’s findings and “credibility” determinations under RCW 

7.52.080 despite not hearing from live witnesses. Op. at 8-9. 

 In many cases, as recognized most recently in Dolan v. 

King County, 172 Wn.2d 299, 310, 258 P.3d 20 (2011), this 
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Court has developed a general rule that appellate courts should 

apply de novo review, rather than the “substantial evidence” test, 

when a trial court makes findings based on written declarations. 

When an appeal presents “the identical documents and records 

presented to the trial court,” the appellate court is “not bound by 

disputed findings of the trial court to the same extent and in the 

same manner as where the trial court’s findings rest upon the oral 

testimony of witnesses.” Carlson v. City of Bellevue, 73 Wn.2d 

41, 435 P.2d 957 (1968) (collecting cases). This general rule has 

received reaffirmation again and again. See, e.g., Serv. Emp. Int’l 

Union Local 925 v. Univ. of Wash., 193 Wn.2d 860, 866, 447 

P.3d 534 (2019) (“Where, as here, the record on appeal consists 

solely of declarations or other documentary evidence, we stand 

in the same position as the trial court (which has made no 

credibility determinations).” (citation omitted)); Smith v. Skagit 

Cnty., 75 Wn.2d 715, 719, 453 P.2d 832 (1969) (following this 

rule and applying de novo review of the record); Progressive 

Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 
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252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (recognizing this general rule); State v. 

Thetford, 109 Wn.2d 392, 396, 745 P.2d 496 (1987). 

Division I erroneously relied on an exception to this 

general rule of de novo review for findings based on paper 

records. Op. at 8-9. Two exceptions to this general rule appear to 

have emerged. First, the “substantial evidence” test applies when

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