# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/10/2023 9:10 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1016280

### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### HIDDEN RIVER RANCH, LLC, et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

#### LINDSEY RODRIGUEZ, et al.

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DENO MILLIKAN LAW FIRM, PLLC Brian C. Dale, WSBA 9239 3411 Colby Avenue Everett WA 98201 (425)259-2222

Attorneys for Respondent Lindsey Rodriguez

####

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

#### D. ARGUMENT:

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY APPLIED THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Petitioner HRR argues for *de novo* review because the Jennifer Schultz declaration "was uncontroverted" and the trial court's credibility findings were "not necessary to a conclusion of 'great prejudice'..." under RCW 7.52.080. Petition at 25, 27. These arguments are false and misrepresent the record and decisions. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the substantial evidence standard of review to the trial court's findings. Op. at 9. The Court of Appeals decision does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Dodge appraisal shows the undivided property actually consists of six tax parcels totaling only 31.83 acres. CP 320, 326-8, 330; Op. at 4-5.

conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court and discretionary review should not be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The allegations of the Schultz declaration, CP 64-66, and her credibility were "very much at issue". Op. at 14. Schultz did not rebut the Dodge appraisal and did not address how to value a life estate. She did not address how to value the property as a whole nor how partition in kind would affect the Her declaration merely speculated on what price value. arbitrarily divided portions of the property could be listed for sale. There was no showing that legal subdivision of the land is even possible. Schulz is a personal friend of Cal Jr. and is not an expert appraiser. The trial court found her declaration unconvincing and lacking credibility. FOF # 8, CP 703. The Court of Appeals thoroughly reviewed the conflicting evidence and affirmed this credibility finding based on substantial evidence in the record. Op. at 6-7, 14-17, 20.

The trial court weighed Cal Jr.'s "evolving" and changing allegations (that partition was "not feasible due to the

nature of the property and structures ... and would destroy much of the value"; for a life estate for Cal Jr. in lieu of sale; for sale of a portion of the property because it cannot be partitioned in kind), the conflicting declarations of appraiser Dodge and of realtor Schultz, and Lindsey's petition. The trial court made credibility determinations regarding these witnesses. CP 702-703(FOF#5 - #8). The Court of Appeals reviewed these findings based on substantial evidence in the record. Op. at 11-22.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 350-351, 77 P.3d 1174, 1180 (2003)("where competing documentary evidence had to be weighed and conflicts resolved" the substantial evidence standard applies). Indeed, in a partition case "[a] presumption exists in favor of the trial court's findings of fact ... and the party claiming error has the burden of showing findings are not supported by substantial evidence." *Overlake Farms B.L.K. III*,

LLC v. Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC, 196 Wn.App. 929, 944, 386 P.3d 1118, 1127 (2016).

None of the cases cited by HRR, Petition at 23-25, involved judicial review of credibility findings on conflicting evidence. Those cases involved *de novo* judicial review of administrative agency action and do not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision here. Petitioner also cites *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 310, 311, 258 P.3d 20 (2011) which held that the "substantial evidence" standard should apply where the trial court had to resolve conflicting factual assertions.

Without citing legal authority, HRR argues *de novo* review should apply to a trial court's determination of "great prejudice" made without live witness testimony. Petition at 28-29. But RCW 7.52.070 and .080 do not state how the trial court must conduct its fact finding – by a motion hearing on witness declarations or by trial. HRR concedes the trial court has discretion in this regard, Petition at 29, but does not provide legal authority or facts showing abuse of discretion. HRR had

three opportunities to present evidence and legal arguments: at trial in October 2020 (CP 192), at the hearing on the motion for sale in December 2020 (CP 151), and an additional week thereafter to submit evidence for a life estate. (*Id.*), CP 702 (FOF#7); Op. at 3-4, 16, 19-20. But the declarations of Cal Jr. and Schultz were not responsive on how to value a life estate nor a comparison of values if partitioned. CP 702-703 (FOF#7, #8). The trial court had discretion to decide the motion without live testimony on this record. This is not a basis for discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## 2. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION.

Petitioner HRR argues that the trial court relied only upon the declaration of appraiser Jim Dodge as the sole basis for its finding of "great prejudice". Petition at 17-18. However, this ignores the other evidence in the trial court's findings, FOF #3 - #9, CP 701-703, and misrepresents the Court of Appeals decision regarding sufficiency of the evidence. Op.

at 4-7, 11-17. See also, Brief of Respondent at 22 – 31 for citations to the record below supporting the trial court's findings. The trial court was entitled to believe Cal Jr.'s earlier admission under oath that "partition in kind is not feasible ... and would destroy most of the value" as evidence of great prejudice to the owners. CP 175-176, CP 701 (FOF#3); Op. at 11-12. This is consistent with Lindsey's contention that separating the property into parcels would result in great prejudice to the owners. *Id.*, Op. at 12.

HRR argues the Dodge appraisal, CP 319-381, is a "barebones opinion" and the court's credibility findings were "fluff added onto the court's findings to avoid scrutiny ..." on appeal. Petition at 20, 26. HRR argues this conflicts with standards "for scrutiny of expert declarations" and the presumption against partition sales. *Id.* at 23. But trial court explained in detail why it found the Dodge appraisal persuasive and the Schultz declaration not credible. FOF# 4 – FOF#8, CP 701-703. The appraisal shows Dodge's data, method,

conclusion, training and experience. CP 320, 342, 368-370. The trial court's determination of credibility is unassailable. Morse v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 574, 70 P.3d 125, 126 (2003)("[c]redibility determinations cannot be reviewed on HRR argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 Wn.2d 241, 277, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) warranting discretionary review. Petition at 23. Volk requires that "the expert's opinion must be based on fact and cannot simply be a conclusion...". But the Dodge appraisal, CP 319-381, is neither conclusory nor speculative, and the trial court found it supported proof of great prejudice to value if the land was partitioned in kind. CP 701-2 (FOF#4). Court of Appeals did "not review credibility The determinations or reweigh evidence on appeal". Op. at 8.

There is no "presumption" against partition sales. The statute "favors partition in kind whenever practicable." Hegewald v. Neal, 20 Wn.App. 517, 522, 582 P.2d 529, 531 (1978). RCW 7.52.080 requires proof "to the satisfaction of the

court" that "partition cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners...". The standard of proof is a civil preponderance. Williamson Inv. Co. v. Williamson, 96 Wn. 529, 538, 165 P. 385, 389 (1917).

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent on expert opinions nor with the preponderance of evidence standard of proof. Discretionary review is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1),

# 3. <u>THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY APPLIED EXISTING LAW TO AFFIRM THE FINDING OF "GREAT PREJUDICE".</u>

Petitioner HRR argues that the Court of Appeals applied a new standard of "economic feasibility" "based on unquantified amounts of injury or on mere hardship" – less proof than required by RCW 7.52.080. Petition at 10-15. HRR also argues that *Williamson Inv. Co. v. Williamson*, supra, requires a comparison of quantified values before and after partition for a finding of "great prejudice". Petition at 1-2, 13 – 14. But these arguments have no basis in fact or law.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the Williamson standard: "[g]reat prejudice means 'material pecuniary loss'". Op. at 10. Williamson does not require quantification of lost value of each parcel if separated for partition. Op. at 20-22. In Williamson, the opinions of expert witnesses "were hopelessly divided" on comparison of values if the property was partitioned to separate parcels or valued as a whole. 96 Wn. at 540. Without finding specific quantities of lost value, the trial court appointed three referees to divide the property into parcels without great prejudice to the owners. The trial court later adopted the referees' report as its final decision dividing the land into parcels of approximately equal values. Id. at 533-4. Noting that each partition case "must ultimately depend on its own peculiar facts" the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's findings as supported by substantial evidence. Given the wide range of disputed expert opinions on valuation "we are unable to say that the court's findings are contrary to the preponderance of evidence." Id. at 540.

Here, likewise the trial court compared values: the property at its highest and best use as a single property and partition of it is not economically feasible. Op. at 12; CP 701, FOF#2 - #4. Even Cal Jr. agreed that "trying to separate the property ... would destroy most of the value" and that partition in kind to separate parcels was not feasible. CP 175-176, CP 701, FOF#3. And no evidence established it could be legally divided. If "partition in kind is not economically feasible ... it would be impossible to speculate on possible valuation for portions of a piece of property that cannot be divided." Op. at 22. These findings are sufficient proof of great prejudice under Williamson. Hegewald v. Neal, supra, and Overlake Farms, supra, discussed by the Court of Appeals, do not conflict with Williamson. Op. at 10-11, 19-22.

HRR argues that an individual co-owner may object to the partition sale if he suffers hardship (i.e., Cal Jr. losing the farm) because "all owners" must suffer great prejudice equally. Petition at 15-17. HRR argues that Cal Jr.'s labor, materials

and cash expenditures on the ranch should be relevant to comparison of "great prejudice" amongst the owners. Petition at 5, 7. But the claim for reimbursement and/or equitable recognition of labor, materials and cash expenditures was dismissed, CP 815-816, an order that HRR did not appeal. All owners are greatly prejudiced if splitting up the property causes portions to be useless or less valuable than if sold as a whole. No single owner has a right to retain possession and control of the land, nor force others to remain co-tenants in property they do not wish to own. The test is whether partition in kind will cause great prejudice to the owners, not a comparison of hardships amongst the owners if the property is sold. Op. at 22-23.

HRR argues an owelty award under RCW 7.52.440 should have been considered. Petition at 22-23. But the issue of owelty was not presented at trial and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. In any event, it does not make sense. HRR never explained how a life estate would work without

offsetting value to the other owners, RP (10/27/20) 32, CP 702-703 (FOF#6 - FOF#8) and abandoned it as a remedy on appeal. Op. at 16, 19. Later, HRR argued that a portion of the property could be sold, per the discredited Schultz declaration, such that owelty was not needed. The owelty argument is baseless.

#### E. CONCLUSION:

HRR has never explained the contradiction in its position: HRR's requests for a life estate or sale of a portion of the property both require a finding that the preferred remedy of partition in kind is not feasible due to "great prejudice." Yet HRR argues that great prejudice has not been proven without explaining how its proposed remedy can then be granted. HRR does not show that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court and its Petition for Review should be denied.

This document contains 3292 words excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.